BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION
SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA

FEBRUARY 28, 2024

Zoom



AGENDA




BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION
MEETING AGENDA

February 28, 2024

Zoom
Board of Public Education meetings are open to the public electronically. For those wishing to give virtual public
comment, please contact bpe@mt.gov to request the zoom link for the meeting. To watch the meeting streamed live,
please visit the Montana Board of Public Education Youtube.

Wednesday, February 28, 2024
8:30AM

Action may be taken on any item listed on the Board agenda. Per §2-3-103, MCA, the Board encourages public
comment on any item prior to Board final action.

CALL TO ORDER
A. Pledge of Allegiance
B. Roll Call
C. Statement of Public Participation
D. Welcome Visitors
ADOPT AGENDA

+ MSDB LIAISON — Renee Rasmussen (ltem 1)

Item 1 MSDB REPORT - 15 Minutes, page #6
Paul Furthmyre

ACTION ITEMS:
e Out of State Travel Request

.0

% CHARTER COMMITTEE - Jane Hamman (ltem 2)

Item 2 ACTION ON PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACTS - 15 Minutes, page #9
Jane Hamman

PUBLIC COMMENT

This time will be provided for public comment on items not listed on the agenda. This meeting is open tothe public
both in person and electronically. For those wishing to give virtual public comment, please contact bpe@mt.gov to
request the Zoom link for the meeting. Members of the public who have joined virtually on Zoom may “raise their
hand” at the appropriate time to participate after being recognized bythe Board Chair. Members of the public who
wish to share written public comment with the Board members must submit written public comment to the
Executive Director at bpe@mt.qgov no later than two (2) business days before the start of the meeting. Any
written public comment received after this deadline will be shared with the Board members after the meeting. All
written public comment will be included as part of the official public record.

ADJOURN

The Montana Board of Public Education is a Professional Development Unit Provider. Attending a Board of Public
Education Meeting either in person or via Zoom may qualify you to receive professional development units. Please
complete the necessary information on the sign-in sheet if you are applying for professional development units.

February 28, 2024 Board of Public Education Page 1


mailto:bpe@mt.gov
https://www.youtube.com/@montanaboardofpubliceducat5954/featured
mailto:bpe@mt.gov
mailto:bpe@mt.gov

Agenda items are handled in the order listed on the approved agenda. ltems may be rearranged unless listed “time

certain”. Public comment is welcome on all items listed as “Action” and as noted at the beginning and end of each
meeting.

The Board of Public Education will make reasonable accommodations for known disabilities that may interfere with an
individual’s ability to participate in the meeting. Individuals who require such accommodations should make requests
to the Board of Public Education as soon as possible prior to the meeting start date. You may write to: Kris Stockton,
PO Box 200601, Helena MT, 59620, email at: kmstockton@mt.gov or phone at 406-444-0302.

February 28, 2024 Board of Public Education Page 2


mailto:kmstockton@mt.gov

Sowe>

CALL TO ORDER

Pledge of Allegiance

Roll Call

Statement of Public Participation
Welcome Visitors



 MSDB LIAISON (Item 1)

Renee Rasmussen

ITEM 1

MSDB REPORT

Paul Furthmyre

ACTION ITEMS:

e Out of State Travel Request



Sports provide young people with many critical elements to becoming a successful adult. Participation in
activities give kids the obvious benefits of exercise and competition, but they also teach the skills of
communication, leadership, emotional regulation, confidence, respect, and patience. There are very few
sports opportunities available for blind student-athletes. However, here at MSDB, we have a small group
of enthusiastic students who participate in goalball. Goalball is a Paralympic sport, contested at an
international level that involves three players per side, working to score a goal with a ball that provides
sound feedback to the players. Our students passionately practice to improve their skills on a weekly
basis. Due to the small population of blind athletes in Montana, there is not much available competition,
particularly at the age of our students. Therefore, they are missing out on the ability to compete with
other teams, meet other visually impaired student-athletes, and improve their skills against others like
themselves. Recently, through an effort to make connections with other teams like ourselves here at
MSDB, we were invited to a Goalball Tournament being held at the Colorado School for the Blind. Not
only will teams from Colorado be present, but also New Mexico and Utah. This opportunity will allow
our small and mighty Montana team to play a sport the way millions of children around the United
States do on a daily basis. They will hone their skills, make new friends, and boost their confidence, as
well as having an adventure many of them would never have otherwise. While we hope this is not a
once in a lifetime opportunity, the excitement these student-athletes feel about this upcoming event is
palpable and highly motivating. Thank you for considering the benefits of this opportunity for our young,
blind-athletes.

Naomi Witham-Travers

MSDB Goalball Coach

Please watch the following video on the goalball, | would imagine most have not seen a goalball match.

Paralympic Sport A-Z: Goalball



https://youtu.be/0bZ51jzmbAQ?si=sbDQcTRtCcw9BbHD

STATE OF MONTANA REQUEST AND JUSTIFICATION

FOR OUT-OF-STATE TRAVEL

1) Agency Number/Name 2) Division
School for the Deaf and the Blind Student Life
3) Org Number 4) Name of Person(s) Traveling/Employee ID#

NAOMI WITHAM-TRAVERS/080896

5) Justification

Travel to Colorado Springs for youth goalball tournament. The MSDB team has been practicing
and are ready to play against other teams. The students and coaches will be housed at CSDB for
the duration of the event.

6) Itinerary
Destination: Colorado Springs, CO

Travel Dates: March 14-17, 2024

7) Estimated Costs

Transportation $ 2400 Meals $ 200 Lodging $ Other $

Total estimated cost $ 2800 est.

Provide details to support estimated costs:
(Example: registration, taxi, etc. Provide Hotel Name and Phone Number if your Agency requires this information)

Airfare Great Falls to Colorado Springs, food for the day before the event and the day after the
event. Room and food is provided during the competition at the Colorado School for the Deaf and
the Blind.

8) Submitted By Title Date
ﬁzm Relly 99 Director of Student Life 01/19/2024
Approval of Authorized Agency Personnel per Department Policy
Supervisor Date Administrator Date
Dept. Head/Designee Date

NOTE: A travel expense voucher form must be filed within three months after incurring the travel expenses,
otherwise the right to reimbursement will be waived.

REVISED 11/17



% CHARTER COMMITTEE (Item 2)

Jane Hamman

ITEM 2

ACTION ON PUBLIC CHARTER
CONTRACTS

Jane Hamman



State of Montana
Poard of Public Education

Public Charter Contracts
February 2024

Billings Early College School
Billings Multilingual Academy
Billings Opportunity School
Bitterroot Polytech (Hamilton)
Bozeman Charter School
Bridger Charter Academy
Bronc Fast Track Public Charter School (Frenchtown)
CONNECT Academy (Missoula)
East Helena 227 Academy
Flathead PACE Academy (Kalispell)
Great Falls Core Elementary School
Helena Montessori Charter School
Helena Project for Alternative Learning Charter
Jefferson Academy (Boulder)

Mount Ascension Learning Academy (Helena)
RISE Charter and Distance Learning Academy (Corvallis)
RISE Charter and Pathway Learning Academy (Corvallis)

Rising Wolf Charter School (Kalispell)
TEACH Academy (Missoula)

PO Box 200601
Helena, Montana 59620-0601
(406) 444-6576
www.bpe.mt.gov



BILLINGS EARLY COLLEGE SCHOOL

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Billings Early College School (collectively,
the “Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the "State”) enacted the Public Charter Schoois Act {the "Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-8-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district; the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter schoo! district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18




the school, inciuding identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrofled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Billings Early Coliege School.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject fo the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitied to operate.

2.4.1.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18




2.4.1.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter schoo!
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board’s assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shali have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and atiendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shali be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enroliment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18




or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent

with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enrollment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. [n the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any materiai
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5, Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school's educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (‘Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract’). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Pravider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts™). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means {o
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school's first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18




the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider's assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider's participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such maodifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enroliment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school's charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18




4.8.

4.9

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school’'s
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.8.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
“IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA"), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) ("Section 504"), all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP") of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

51.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shalt be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18




(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:
6.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generaily accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP");
6.1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;
6.1.2.3. (i) accounting for contributions and grants;
6.1.2.4. (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,
6.1.2.5.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

6.2. The Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its

submission to the Board of Public Education.

6.2.1 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement

are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence fo verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

6.2.2 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement

are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing
Board is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each
year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of
Public Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that
preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the
Board of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for
each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.4. Audits.

6.4.

Page 7 of 18

1. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction's currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board's annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.




6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enroliment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entittement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school's Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school's educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18




year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school {the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. a report of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the pericd the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board's
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (‘Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board's authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program, or

Page 9 of 18




8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

87.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1. toterminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2. terminate the Charter Governing Board's authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

87.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

87.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) ("Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers' Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or wiliful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18




waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2 Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic maif as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature {.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:

Dr. Erwin Garcia, Superintendent Dr. Jeril Hehn, Director of Advanced Academics
415 N. 30 415 N. 30t
Billings, MT 58101 Billings, MT 59101

garciavelasqueze@biilingsschools.org  hehni@bitlingsschools.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and notin
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18




BILLINGS EARLY COLLEGE SCHOOL

o S XD TU A N

Scott McCulloch, Chair of the Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18




Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | -~ Specific Terms
Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission

expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Billings Early Coliege School

1044 Cook Avenue

Billings, MT 59101

Part It — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18




Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan
Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law. ;
i

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1. Records concerning the enrollment and admissions process including all applications

received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted:;

2. Student academic and health records;

3. Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and

the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

4. Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”") as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each schooi;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;

Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all

applicable school employees;

8. Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

9. Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

10. Loan documents;

11. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;

12. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,
personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;

13. Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;

14. Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;

15. Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,

16. Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,
b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

~Noo

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1. Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable taws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary fo
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas,

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. Acopy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;

2. An updated fist of trustees and officers of any such person's election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board;
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expuisions including, but not limited to:

The date the disciplinary action was instituted,
The duration of any suspension;
The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL"), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program{*FRPL"); and,
e. Other student demographic information.
5. Any and all student-level enrollment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
c. The students status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

aoow

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Fage 15 of 18




Exhibit C — Performance Framework

Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

SHOENDO B WD

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;
attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enroliment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability,

. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

Page 16 of 18




Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards

Part | - Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federai law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title II of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education

Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disahilities that qualify under the IDEA!

a. have available a free appropriate public education ("“FAPE");

b. are appropriately evaluated;

¢. are provided with an IEP,

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the 1EP, along with their
parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing

Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure

implementation of the public charter school's responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student's regular and

special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened

by such student’s IEP Team.

Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with

disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student filesina

secure and locked location with limited access.

Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting

requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA

including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in

connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of

_the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to

he committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cuitural heritage of
American Indians.

The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.
The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when imptementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18




American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part Iil = Variances fo Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18




BILLINGS MULTILINGUAL ACADEMY

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Billings Multilingual Academy (collectively,
the "Parties™).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act’); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (i) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (i} may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1 2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.8. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18




the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site' one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Billings Multilingual Academy.

2 1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.11. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the "Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board,;

213, the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the "Performance Framework”);

21.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances fo Standards”);

2.2 Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules fo create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located schooi district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2 4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (b) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-8-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted fo operate.

24.11. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approvai of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18




24.1.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

54.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1.

3.2

3.3.

Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. |n addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, ali
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

Code of Ethics and Conflicts of interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,

and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in

existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public

Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4, School Operations

4.1.

4.2.

Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board's assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enrollment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter afia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to abtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enrollment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes {o such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18




or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enrollment at each of its
schools.

4.4, Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shalll provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school's educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (‘ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, aliow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school's further existence
in peril. '

452 To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior {o a
school's first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1-
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18




the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that shouid the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.53. Tothe extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation {or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board's breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider's participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4 8. Educational Programs.
4.8.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language leamers, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enroliment and Performance Framework of the student's
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any schooi first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school's charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18




4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school's
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school's success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shali be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school's education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board's
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
“IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the "ADA"), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504"}, all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP") of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

52.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies:; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty {120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18




6

6
6
6

6
6.2. The

(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:

1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles (“GAAP");

.1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;

1.2.3. (i) accounting for contributions and grants;

1.2.4. (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,

1.2.5.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its supbmission to the Board of Public Education.

6.2.1

6.2.2

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement
are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing
Board is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each
year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of
Public Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that
preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the

Boa

rd of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for

each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.
6.4. Audits.

8.4.1

Page 7 of 18

. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board's financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.




6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enrollment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Regquirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit fo the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the "Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8 1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide fo the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18




year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the "School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1, a report of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

822 a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that wili allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8 4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school's, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consulfation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education fo undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board's authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18




8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as foliows:

8.7.1.1. toterminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2. terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.4. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmiess the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or aileged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negiigent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18




waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature {.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient's
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:

Dr. Erwin Garcia, Superintendent Dr. Chris QOlszewski, Assistant Superintendent
415 N. 30" 415 N. 30™
Billings, MT 59101 Billings, MT 59101

garciavelasqgueze@billingsschools.org olszewskic@billingsschools.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Fiynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.qov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9 6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18




BILLINGS EARLY COLLEGE SCHOOL

By__ Z/J/& ZZ_.Q:L f( m%

Scott McCulloch, Chair of the Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Billings Muitilingual Academy
415 N. 30"
Billings, MT 59101

Part It — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18




Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Pian, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
3

No o

10.
11.
12.

13
14.

15.

16.

Records concerning the enroliment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted,;

Student academic and health records;

Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA") as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;

Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

Loan documents;

Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;

Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,
personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;

Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other emEonees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;

Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visitto a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Regquire the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school's financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board's and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approvali.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;

2. An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation,;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board,;
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not fimited to:

The date the disciplinary action was instituted;
The duration of any suspension;
The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
The student’s status as an English Language Learner (‘ELL"), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL"); and,
e. Other student demographic information.
5. Any and all student-ievel enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

aoow

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to fime,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18




Exhibit C — Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere fo the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which inciude:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year fo year;

postsecondary readiness,

financial performance and sustainability,

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

= © 0 NO 0T WN =

Page 16 of 18




Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards

Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education

Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:

a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE"),

b. are appropriately evaluated,

c. are provided with an |EP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the |EP, along with their
parents; and,

f have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school's or school district's
provision of FAPE.

Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing

Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure

implementation of the public charter school's responsibilities under |DEA and Section 504.

Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and

special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened

by such student’s |[EP Team.

Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA} as they relate to students with

disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a

secure and locked location with limited access.

Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting

requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA

including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in

connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part || — Assurances Regarding indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cuitural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

The Charter Governing Board shali ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18




American indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian peaple.

Part |l = Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education authorizers the following

variances to standards to meet the intended outcomes of the proposed academic program of
the school:

1. ARM 10.55.906 High School Credit

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in

writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18




BILLINGS OPPORTUNITY SCHOOL

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Billings Opportunity School {collectively, the
“Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the "Act"); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter fo enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district; the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant fo a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18




the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Billings Opportunity School.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan"), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board,;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, {the “Performance Framework"),

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“‘Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”),

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2.41.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18




2.412. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable iaw, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment fo its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board's assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enrollment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enrollment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18




or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enrollment at each of its
schools.

4.4 Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty {30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school's educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider’) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract ("Management Contract’). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school's first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18




the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider's assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board's breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider's participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is inciuded in the enroliment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the schoo! year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school's charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18




4.8.

4.9,

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school's
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’'s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school's education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board's
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fuffill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.} (the
“IDEA"), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) {the "ADA”), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504”), all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program {“|EP”) of each student as determined by the 1EP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shali employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shail make
available in written form its hiring and personnel! policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1

. Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18




(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:
6.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP?);
6.1.2.2.  (ii) payroll procedures;
6.1.2.3. (i) accounting for contributions and grants;
6.1.2.4. (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,
8.1.2.5. (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

8.2. The Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its

submission to the Board of Public Education.

8.2.1 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement

are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

6.2.2 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement

are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing
Board is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each
year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of
Public Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that
preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the
Board of Public Education to inciude, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for
each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.4. Audits.

6.4.

Page 7 of 18

1. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board's annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board's financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptrolier General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.




6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shali prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter schoo! it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. in the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enroliment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitiement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Reguirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall inciude at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report"). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18




year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school's performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools,

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the schoo! pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. in the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8 4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school's, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board's
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board's authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

86.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18




8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as foliows:

8.7.1.1. toterminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2. terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shali be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

87.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. in the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (‘Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers' Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shalll, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18




waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for ail purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient's electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

if to the Charter Governing Board:

Dr. Erwin Garcia Gordon Klasna

415 N. 30" St 415 N. 30 St.

Billings, MT 59101 Billings, MT 59101
garciavelasqueze@billingsschools.org klasnag@billingsschools.ord

if to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mti.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18




BILLINGS OPPORTUNITY SCHOOL

0. S esld e G 04D

Scatt McCulloch, Chair of the Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18




Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Billings Opportunity School
1044 Cook Avenue
Billings, MT 59101

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18




Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicabie law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
3

13.

14.

15.

16.

Records concerning the enroliment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;
Student academic and health records;

. Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and

the reason(s) for such withdrawals,

Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school,

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees,

Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

. Loan documents;
. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;
. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,

personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, heaith and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law,
Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;,
Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school's progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee wili:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, ail categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18




observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Regquire the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school's financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;

2. An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board,
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited fo:

The date the disciplinary action was instituted;
The duration of any suspension;
The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL"), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL"); and,
e. Other student demographic information.
5. Any and all student-leve! enrollment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
c. The student's status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

oo

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time fo time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 cf 18




Exhibit C — Performance Framework

Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-8-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

= O ND O WM

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth,

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;
attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year,

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability,

. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

Page 16 of 18




Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards

Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title It of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:

a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE"),

b. are appropriately evaluated;

¢. are provided with an |EP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the |EP, along with their
parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to

resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.
Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school's responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.
Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student's regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.
Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.
Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.
Each schoo! will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part 1] — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a cuiturally responsive manner,

The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18




American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part 1l — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18




BITTERROOT POLYTECH

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Bitterroot Polytech (collectively, the
“Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (i) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supetvision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district. :

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18




the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) wouid operate as a "single site.”

2. Establishment of the Bitterroot Polytech.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan"), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D {the
“‘Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate. '

24.1.1.  Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18




24.1.2.  The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3.  In the event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s)} shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board’s assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enrollment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enrollment, attendance and
withdrawal including, infer alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enrollment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not reguire the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18




or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school's educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (*Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts ("ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seecks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school's further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Pubiic Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18




the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an-ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider's assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a schoaol without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider's participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enroliment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit. ,

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its compietion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school's charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school's
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’'s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board's
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommeodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
“IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA"), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504"), all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP") of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all imes maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:

6.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted

6
6

accounting principles ("GAAP”),
A1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;
1.2.3.  {iii) accounting for contributions and grants;

6.1.24.  (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,

6

6.2. The
its s
6.2.1

6.2.2

which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,
1.25.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.
Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to
ubmission to the Board of Public Education.
If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.
If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing

Boa

rd is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each

year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of

Pub

lic Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that

preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the

Boa

rd of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for

each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.
6.4. Audits.

6.4.1

Page 7 of 18

. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction's currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board's annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s.annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.




6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enrolliment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitliement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitiement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. Abrief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18




year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-8-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation,;

8.2.2. adetailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the schoot that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school's, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board's
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not |imited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18




8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1.  to terminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2. terminate the Charter Governing Board's authority to operate onhe or more
. charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
* 9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”} from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys' fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers' Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions

- of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against

any and all claims. Itis agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient's
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:
Tom Korst, Superintendent
Hamilton School District #3
217 Daly Ave.
Hamilton, MT 59840
korstt@hsd3.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18



BITTERROOT YTECH

By,

Patrick Hanley, Chair of the Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By,

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | - Specific Terms
Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a |ater date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission

expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Bitterroot Polytech
103 South 9" Street
Hamilton, MT 59840

Part II — Charter Application
The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter

Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18




Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2
3.

No o

10.
11.
12.

13.

14.

15.
186.

Records concerning the enroliment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

. Student academic and health records;

Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;
Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolfed in each school;
Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;
Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;
Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;
Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;
Loan documents;
Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;
Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,
personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;
Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;
Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. humber of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school's financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to

‘concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other

individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shali issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board's and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1.

2.

A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school,
An updated list of frustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board,;
and,
An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.
Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:
The date the disciplinary action was instituted;
The duration of any suspension;
The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL"), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program("FRPL"); and,
e. Other student demographic mformatlon
Any and all student-level enrollment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
¢. The student's status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

20T

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 150f 18



Exhibit C - Performance Framework

Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

SN AEWN -~

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievemeant gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups:
attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards

Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title I} of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education

Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:

a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE");

b. are appropriately evaluated;

¢. are provided with an IEP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE),

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their
parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school's or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing

Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure

implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and

special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened

by such student’s |[EP Team.

Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with

disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a

secure and locked location with limited access.

Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting

requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA

including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in

connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unigue cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians. '

The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that alt school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian peaple.

Part Hll — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education authorizers the following
variances to standards to meet the intended outcomes of the proposed academic program of
the school:

1. ARM 10.55.710 Assignment of School Counseling Staff

2. ARM 10.55.709 Library Media Services

3. ARM 10.55.705 Administrative Personnel: Assignment of School Administrators/
Principals

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



BOZEMAN CHARTER SCHOOL

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Bozeman Charter School (collectively, the
“Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Bozeman Charter School.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”),

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2025. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June 30, 2030. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2411. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school
or schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of
the Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



2412 The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2413. In the event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1.

4.2

Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board's assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enrollment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

Admissions; Enrollment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enrollment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enroliment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (‘ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school'’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enroliment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 50f 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school’s
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide
services and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the
Terms of Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et
seq.) (the “IDEA”"), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the
“ADA”), section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504"), all
applicable regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized
education program (“I[EP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent
with 34 CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services
either directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board,
or by contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:

6.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”);

6.1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;

6.1.2.3. (i) accounting for contributions and grants;

6.1.2.4. (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,

which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,

6.1.2.5. (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

6.2. The Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its

submission to the Board of Public Education.

6-24—If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement

are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

6-2:2—1If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement

are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing
Board is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each
year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of
Public Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that
preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the
Board of Public Education to include, but not be limited fo, certain financial statements for
each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.4. Audits.

6.4

Page 7 of 18

.1. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not

identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board's financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enroliment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitiement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school's progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’'s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth in
the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shal follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board's
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board's authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 8 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1. to terminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2. terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient's
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:
Lacy Clark - Clerk
Bozeman Public Schools
404 W Main
Bozeman, MT 59715
lacy.clark@bsd7.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18



BOZEMAN CHARTER SCHOOL

N Do e

Greg Neil, Chair of & Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By.

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Bozeman Charter School (BoCS)
811 W Alderson St
Bozeman, MT 59715

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan
Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1. Records concerning the enrollment and admissions process including all applications

received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

2. Student academic and health records;

3. Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and

the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

4. Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;

Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all

applicable school employees;

8. Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

9. Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

10. Loan documents;

11. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;

12. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,
personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;

13. Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;

14. Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;

15. Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,

16. Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,
b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

No o

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1. Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;

2. An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board;
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:

a. The date the disciplinary action was instituted;

b. The duration of any suspension;

c. The reason for such suspension or expulsion;

d. The student's status as an English Language Learner (“ELL"), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL"); and,

e. Other student demographic information.

5. Any and all student-level enroiiment and retention information including, but not limited to:

a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;

b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;

c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,

d. Other student demographic information.

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 0f 18



Exhibit C -~ Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in
20-6-809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enroliment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

PON~

SN O

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards
Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title I of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

2. The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:

a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE");

b. are appropriately evaluated;

c. are provided with an |IEP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their
parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to

resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

3. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

4. Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

5. Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

6. Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

7. Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of

IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

2. The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

3. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part Il - Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education authorizers the following
variances to standards to meet the intended outcomes of the proposed academic program of
the school:

1. ARM 10.55.710 Assignment of School Counseling Staff
2. ARM 10.55.709 Library Media Services

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October

for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



BRIDGER CHARTER ACADEMY

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Bridger Charter Academy (collectively, the
“Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued fo it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Bridger Charter Academy.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2411, Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school
or schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of
the Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



24.1.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. In the event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. [n addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1.

4.2.

Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board's assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enrollment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enroliment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enrollment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board’s schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such madifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enrollment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school’s
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board's
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide
services and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the
Terms of Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et
seq.) (the “IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the
“ADA"), section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504"), all
applicable regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized
education program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent
with 34 CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services
either directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board,
or by contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:

6.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”),

6.1.2.2. (if) payroll procedures;

6.1.2.3. (iii) accounting for contributions and grants;

6.1.24. (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,

which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,

6.1.2.5. (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

6.2. The Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its

submission to the Board of Public Education.

6-24—If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board'’s Initial Statement

are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

6-2-2—1If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board'’s Initial Statement

are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing
Board is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each
year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of
Public Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that
preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the
Board of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for
each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.4. Audits.

6.4.

Page 7 of 18

1. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board's annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board's financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enrollment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. A discussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school's performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth in
the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.
8.7. Notice and Procedures.
8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for

termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1. to terminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2. terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more

charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the

Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter

Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements
9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and

hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or wiliful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public

Page 10 of 18

Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:
Lacy Clark - Clerk
Bozeman Public Schools
404 W Main
Bozeman, MT 59715
lacy.clark@bsd7.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18



BRIDGER CHARTER ACADEMY

By. / /QID

Greg Neil, Chair ofthe Chalter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By.

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Bridger Charter Academy (BCA)
205N 11th Ave
Bozeman, MT 59715

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan
Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1. Records concerning the enrollment and admissions process including all applications

received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

2. Student academic and health records;

3. Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and

the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

4. Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA") as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;

Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all

applicable school employees;

8. Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

9. Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

10. Loan documents;

11. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;

12. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,
personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;

13. Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;

14. Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;

15. Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,

16. Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,
b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

Noo

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1. Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board's and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;

2. An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board:;
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:

a. The date the disciplinary action was instituted;

b. The duration of any suspension;

c. The reason for such suspension or expulsion;

d. The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL”), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL"); and,

e. Other student demographic information.

5. Any and all student-level enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:

a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;

b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;

c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,

d. Other student demographic information.

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18



Exhibit C — Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in
20-6-809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enroliment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

SOINoORWN =

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards
Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

2. The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:
a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”);

b. are appropriately evaluated;

c. are provided with an IEP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their
parents; and,
have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

3. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

4. Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student's regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

5. Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

6. Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

7. Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

=h

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of

IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

2. The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

3. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part Il — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education authorizers the following
variances to standards to meet the intended outcomes of the proposed academic program of
the school:

1. ARM 10.55.710 Assignment of School Counseling Staff

2. ARM 10.55.709 Library Media Services

3. ARM 10.55.705 Administrative Personnel: Assignment of School Administrators/
Principals

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



BRONC FAST TRACK PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Bronc Fast Track Public Charter School
(collectively, the “Parties™).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii} thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years,; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved:;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
. agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms _

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,

.. responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision-and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is [ocated and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district. :

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority fo opsrate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 10f 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
'school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Bronc Fast Track Public Charter School.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and .
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation™);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board; o

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4, Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2.4.1.1.  Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 0f 18



2.4.1.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

. 3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shali have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

~ 3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the pperation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board’s assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, fo achieve
the objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enrollment does
not exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enrollment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enrollment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, infer alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enrollment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the af-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18




or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enrollment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30} days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, tegether with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts™). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks fo execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submifting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30} days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board’s schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the schoo! without such Educational Service Provider's assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public

--Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where

the Board of Public Education determines, af their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board's breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider's participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.

46.1

. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at
its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications

- shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a

revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enroliment and Performance Framework of the student's
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framewaork, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 50of 18




4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school's
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board's
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Pian, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services '
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of

Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the

“IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA”"), section

504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504), all applicable

regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education

program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34

CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either

directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by

contract with another provider.

5. School Personne!

5.1.

5.2,

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal} of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation. :

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the schoal,
including the gualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law,

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:
6.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP");
6.1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;
6.1.2.3.  (iii) accounting for contributions and grants;
8.1.2.4. (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,
6.1.2.5. (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

6.2. The Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its

6.2.

6.2.

submission to the Board of Public Education.

1 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

2 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement
are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent cettified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
carrection of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing
Board is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each
year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of
Public Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that
preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the
Board of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for
each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.4. Audits. '

6.4

Page 7 of 18

1. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction's currently operative audit letter does not

identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board's financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.




6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year, The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enrollment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school's Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
schoal year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8:1. Schoo! Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18




year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school's performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 20 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the schoo! in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. adetailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards

, and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5.- such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the schoo!
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Boatrd to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school's, program'’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan®). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18




8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.
8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1. to terminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2.  terminate the Charter Governing Board's authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. - Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or

- transition process; including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education. '

9, Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements _

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
-hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole orin part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. Itis the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18




waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:
Les Meyer
P.O. Box 117
Frenchtown, MT 59834
LesMeyer@ftbroncs.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620
bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18



BRONC FAST TRACK PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL

L I R

Shiloh Ldeier, Chalk of the Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18




Exhibit A - Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date. '

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Frenchtown High School

17620 Frenchtown Frontage Road

Frenchtown, MT 59834

Part Il — Charter Application
The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Goverﬁing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
3

Noo;

10.

-1

13.

Records concerning the enroliment and admissions process including all applications

- received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

Student academic and health records;

. Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and

the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

Individua! Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each schoal;

- - Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;

Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;

Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

LLease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

Loan documents;

. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;'
12.

Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,
personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Mestings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;

Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter

- Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;

14.
15.

16.

Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents suificient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework:; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18




observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees:

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Require the Charter Governlng Board to make available necessary mformatlon in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school's financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concermns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board's and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee mestings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;

2. An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board;
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:

The date the disciplinary action was instituted;
The duration of any suspension;
The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
The student'’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL"), a student with a
- disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL"); and,
e. Other student demographic mformatlon
5. Any and all student-level enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
¢. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

opow

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18




Exhibit C — Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

2O NO RN

Page 16 of 18




Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards
Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services fo students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

2. The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:

have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE");

are appropriately evaluated,;

are provided with an IEP;

receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the |IEP, along with their

parents; and,

have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to

resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s

provision of FAPE.

3. ‘Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

4. Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

5. Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

6. Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

7. Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA

“including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate nofification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

coo oo

—h

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of

IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of

~ American Indians.

2. The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, leamn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

3. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribas or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18




American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments,

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part lll — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in

writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



CONNECT ACADEMY

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of CONNECT Academy (collectively, the
“Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 0of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the CONNECT Academy.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be

- hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of

. Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

24.1.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



24.1.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

24.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

4.2

Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school,

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

School Operations
4.1.

Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board’s assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enrollment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

. Admissions; Enrollment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in

place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enrollment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enroliment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school's educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider’) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board'’s schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board -
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enroliment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school's
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school's success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school's education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide
services and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the
Terms of Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et
seq.) (the “IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the
“ADA”"), section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504”), all
applicable regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized
education program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent
with 34 CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services
either directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board,
or by contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

53,

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:
6.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”);
6.1.2.2.  (ii) payroll procedures;
6.1.2.3. (iii) accounting for contributions and grants;
6.1.2.4. (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,
6.1.2.5. (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

6.2. The Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its

6.2.

6.2

submission to the Board of Public Education.

1 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

.2 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement

are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing
Board is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each
year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of
Public Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that
preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the
Board of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for
each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.4. Audits.

6.4

Page 7 of 18

.1. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not

identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enroliment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school's educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school's performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. adetailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end ofthe school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board's authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1. to terminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2. terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:
Missoula County Public Schools
909 South Ave. West
Missoula, MT 59801
woldperson@mcpsmt.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
MccCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18



CONNECT ACADEMY

e Ul Posono

Mis€ould County Public Schools, Board Chair Wilena Old Person

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Missoula County Public Schools

909 South Ave. West

Missoula, MT 59801

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18




Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan
Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection

by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:
1. Records concerning the enrollment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;
2. Student academic and health records;
3. Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

4. Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

5. Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;

6. Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

7. Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;

8. Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

9. Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

10. Loan documents;

11. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;

12. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,
personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;

13. Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;

14. Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;

15. Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,

16. Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,
b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1. Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school's financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. Acopy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;

2. An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board;
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:

The date the disciplinary action was instituted,;
The duration of any suspension;
The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL”"), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL"); and,
e. Other student demographic information.
5. Any and all student-level enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

cpooTo

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18



Exhibit C — Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

SYeNoarwON =~

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards

Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education

Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:

a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”);

b. are appropriately evaluated,;

c. are provided with an IEP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their

parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’'s
provision of FAPE. :

Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing

Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure

implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and

special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened

by such student’s IEP Team.

Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with

disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a

secure and locked location with limited access.

Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting

requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA

including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in

connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those

tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18




American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups-and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part lll — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in

writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



EAST HELENA 227 ACADEMY

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of East Helena 227 Academy (collectively, the
“Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the East Helena 227 Academy.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board,

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards’);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2.41.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



2.4.1.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4, School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board’s assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enrollment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enroliment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4, Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (*“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“‘ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board'’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shali be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enrolliment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school's charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school's
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school's education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
“IDEA"), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA"), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 5047), all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

Financial Operations
6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



6

6
6
6

6

6.2. The
its s
6.2.1

6.2.2

6.3. Fina
Boa

(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the

Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:

A.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP"),

1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;

.1.2.3.  (iii) accounting for contributions and grants;

.1.2.4.  (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,

.1.2.5.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

ubmission to the Board of Public Education.

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement
are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

ncial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing

rd is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each

year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of

Pub

lic Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that

preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the

Boa

rd of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for

each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.4. Audi
6.4.1

Page 7 of 18

ts.

. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enroliment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report’). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’'s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. Abrief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shali
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’'s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. a report of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school's, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board's
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board's authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as foliows:

8.7.1.1.  to terminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2.  terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof: or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (‘Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient's electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

if to the Charter Governing Board:
Dan Rispens - East Helena Public Schools
PO Box 1280
East Helena, MT 59635
drispens@ehps.k12.mt.us

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18



EAST HELENA 227 ACADEMY

NS A,

Scott Walter, Chair of the Charter Governing Béard /

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By
Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms
Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission

expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

East Helena High School - 227 Academy

2760 Valley Drive

East Helena, MT 59635

East Valley Middle School — 227 Academy
401 N Kalispell
East Helena, MT 59635

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
3.

13.
14.
15.
16.

Records concerning the enroliment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

Student academic and health records;

Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;

Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

. Loan documents;
. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;
. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,

personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;
Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;
Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of Public
Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board'’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school,

2. An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board;
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:

a. The date the disciplinary action was instituted,

b. The duration of any suspension;

c. The reason for such suspension or expulsion;

d. The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“"ELL"), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL"); and,

e. Other student demographic information.

5. Any and all student-level enrollment and retention information including, but not limited to:

a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;

b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;

c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,

d. Other student demographic information.

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18



Exhibit C — Performance Framework

Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

1.

SOONOORAWN

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;
attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year,

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards

Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:
have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”);

are appropriately evaluated,;

are provided with an IEP;

receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their
parents; and,

have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.
Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

a0 ow

=h

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1.

The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part ill = Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



FLATHEAD PACE ACADEMY

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Flathead PACE Academy (collectively, the
“‘Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Flathead PACE Academy.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2.4.1.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



2.41.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board’s assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enrollment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enrollment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school’s
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
“IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA”), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504”), all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



6

6
6
6

6
6.2. The

(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the

Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:

.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”);

1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;

.1.2.3.  (iii) accounting for contributions and grants;

1.2.4.  (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,

1.2.5.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its submission to the Board of Public Education.

6.2.1

6.2.2

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing

Boa

rd is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each

year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of

Pub

lic Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that

preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the

Boa

rd of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for

each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.
6.4. Audits.

6.4.1

Page 7 of 18

. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enrollment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1. toterminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2.  terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:
Michele Paine
Flathead High School
644 Fourth Ave. West
Kalispell, MT 59901
painem@sd5.k12.mt.us

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18


mailto:painem@sd5.k12.mt.us
mailto:bpe@mt.gov

FLATHEAD PACE ACADEMY

By

Heather Asher, Chair of the Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Flathead High School
644 Fourth Ave. West
Kalispell, MT 59901

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
3.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Records concerning the enrollment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

Student academic and health records;

Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;

Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

. Loan documents;
. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;
. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,

personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;
Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;
Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1.

2.

A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;
An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board,;
and,
An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.
Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:
a. The date the disciplinary action was instituted;
b. The duration of any suspension;
c. The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
d. The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL”), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL”); and,
e. Other student demographic information.
Any and all student-level enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18



Exhibit C — Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

SOCOoNoOORWN =

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards
Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

2. The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:
a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”);

b. are appropriately evaluated;

c. are provided with an IEP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their
parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

3. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

4. Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

5. Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

6. Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

7. Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of

IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

2. The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

3. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part Ill — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education authorizers the following
variances to standards to meet the intended outcomes of the proposed academic program of
the school:

1. ARM 10.55.705 Administrative Personnel: Assignment of School Administrators/
Principals

2. ARM 10.55.905 Graduation Requirements

3. ARM 10.55.906 High School Credit

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



GREAT FALLS CORE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Great Falls Core Elementary School
(collectively, the “Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act’); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (i) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved,;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract; a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district; the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Great Falls Core Elementary School.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2.4.1.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



2.4.1.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1

3.2.

3.3.

Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

41.

4.2.

Age: Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board's assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance: Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enroliment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (‘Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“‘ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board's breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enroliment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school's
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’'s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
“IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA"), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504"), all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1

5.2

5.3.

. Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary

personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:
6.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP");
6.1.2.2.  (ii) payroll procedures;
6.1.2.3. (i) accounting for contributions and grants;
6.1.2.4.  (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,
6.1.2.5.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

6.2. The Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its

6.2.

6.2.

submission to the Board of Public Education.

1 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

2 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement
are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing
Board is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each
year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of
Public Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that
preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the
Board of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for
each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.4. Audits.

6.4

Page 7 of 18

1. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not

identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board'’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enroliment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school's progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school's educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school's performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to aliow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board'’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board'’s authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1.  toterminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2. terminate the Charter Governing Board's authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (‘Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:
GFPS School Board
1100 4™ Street South
PO Box 2429
Great Falls, MT 59403
school board@gafps.k12.mt.us

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18



GREAT FALLS CORE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

S0\

Gordon Johnson, Chair of-@he--@haﬂ%(ﬁoverning Board
MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

GFPS CORE SCHOOL
Morningside Elementary
4119 7" Ave, North
Great Falls, MT 59401

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
3.

13.
14.
15.
16.

Records concerning the enroliment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

Student academic and health records;

Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;

Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

. Loan documents;
. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;
. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,

personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;
Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;
Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of Public
Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school,

2. An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board,;
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:

The date the disciplinary action was instituted;
The duration of any suspension;
The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL”"), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL"); and,
e. Other student demographic information.
5. Any and all student-level enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
¢. The student's status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

cpoow

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18



Exhibit C — Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enroliment from year to year,

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

2O0oNoORON =

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards
Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

2. The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:

have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”),

are appropriately evaluated;

are provided with an IEP;

receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their

parents; and,

have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to

resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district's

provision of FAPE.

3. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

4. Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

5. Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

6. Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

7. Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

®PoO0TY®

=h

Part | — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of

IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

2. The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

3. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part lll — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



HELENA MONTESSORI CHARTER SCHOOL

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Helena Montessori Charter School
(collectively, the “Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Helena Montessori Charter School.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2.4.1.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



2.41.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board’s assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enrollment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enrollment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school’s
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
“IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA”), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504”), all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



6

6
6
6

6
6.2. The

(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the

Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:

.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”);

1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;

.1.2.3.  (iii) accounting for contributions and grants;

1.2.4.  (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,

1.2.5.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its submission to the Board of Public Education.

6.2.1

6.2.2

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing

Boa

rd is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each

year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of

Pub

lic Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that

preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the

Boa

rd of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for

each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.
6.4. Audits.

6.4.1

Page 7 of 18

. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enrollment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1. toterminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2.  terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:

Rex Weltz, Superintendent
1325 Poplar St.
Helena, MT 59601

rweltz@helenaschools.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18


mailto:bpe@mt.gov

HELENA MONTESSORI CHARTER SCHOOL

oy deolhans K Hatton O

Siobhan Hathhorn, Chair of the Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Broadwater Elementary School
900 Hollins Avenue
Helena, MT 59601

Central Elementary School
402 North Warren
Helena, MT. 59601

Rossiter Elementary School
1497 Sierra Road East
Helena, MT 59601

Smith Elementary School
2320 Fifth Avenue
Helena, MT 59601

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
3.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Records concerning the enrollment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

Student academic and health records;

Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;

Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

. Loan documents;
. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;
. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,

personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;
Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;
Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1.

2.

A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;
An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board,;
and,
An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.
Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:
a. The date the disciplinary action was instituted;
b. The duration of any suspension;
c. The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
d. The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL”), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL”); and,
e. Other student demographic information.
Any and all student-level enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18



Exhibit C — Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

SOCOoNoOORWN =

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards
Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

2. The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:
a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”);

b. are appropriately evaluated;

c. are provided with an IEP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their
parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

3. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

4. Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

5. Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

6. Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

7. Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of

IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

2. The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

3. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part Ill — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



HELENA PROJECT FOR ALTERNATIVE

LEARNING CHARTER

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Helena Project for Alternative Learning
Charter (collectively, the “Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Helena Project for Alternative Learning Charter.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2.4.1.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



2.41.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board’s assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enrollment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enrollment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school’s
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
“IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA”), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504”), all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



6

6
6
6

6
6.2. The

(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the

Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:

.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”);

1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;

.1.2.3.  (iii) accounting for contributions and grants;

1.2.4.  (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,

1.2.5.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its submission to the Board of Public Education.

6.2.1

6.2.2

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing

Boa

rd is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each

year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of

Pub

lic Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that

preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the

Boa

rd of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for

each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.
6.4. Audits.

6.4.1

Page 7 of 18

. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enrollment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1. toterminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2.  terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:

Rex Weltz, Superintendent
1325 Poplar St.
Helena, MT 59601

rweltz@helenaschools.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18


mailto:bpe@mt.gov

HELENA PROJECT FOR ALTERNATIVE LEARNING CHARTER

 Lesbans K St

Siobhan Hathhorn, Chair of the Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

PAL Charter School
815 Front Street
Helena, MT 59601

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
3.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Records concerning the enrollment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

Student academic and health records;

Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;

Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

. Loan documents;
. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;
. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,

personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;
Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;
Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1.

2.

A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;
An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board,;
and,
An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.
Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:
a. The date the disciplinary action was instituted;
b. The duration of any suspension;
c. The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
d. The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL”), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL”); and,
e. Other student demographic information.
Any and all student-level enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18



Exhibit C — Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

SOCOoNoOORWN =

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards
Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

2. The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:
a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”);

b. are appropriately evaluated;

c. are provided with an IEP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their
parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

3. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

4. Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

5. Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

6. Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

7. Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of

IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

2. The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

3. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part Ill — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



JEFFERSON ACADEMY

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Jefferson Academy (collectively, the
“Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act’); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved,;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Jefferson Academy.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
‘Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law govemns this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2.4.1.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



2.4.1.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shali have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. |n addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board's assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enrollment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enroliment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (‘ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, priorto a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board's breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enroliment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school’s
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’'s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board'’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
‘IDEA"), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA”"), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504", all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1

5.2.

L)

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



(the "Initial Statement”) of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the
Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:
6.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”);
6.1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;
6.1.2.3. (i) accounting for contributions and grants;
6.1.2.4. (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,
6.1.2.5.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

6.2. The Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its

submission to the Board of Public Education.

6.2.1 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board'’s Initial Statement

are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

6.2.2 If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board's Initial Statement

are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing
Board is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each
year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of
Public Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that
preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the
Board of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for
each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.4. Audits.

6.4.1. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not

Page 7 of 18

identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board'’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board'’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Govermment Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enroliment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the retum of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board's authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1.  to terminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2. terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (‘Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:
Erik Wilkerson
PO Box 838
Boulder, MT 59632
erik.wilkerson@jhs.k12.mt.us

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18



JEFFERSON ACADEMY

By C&T;Lucl &?U'b—ﬂ“'\

Camilla Robson, Chair of the Charter Govermning Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Jefferson Academy North Campus
PO Box 838
Boulder, MT 59632

Jefferson Academy South Campus
105 Venture Way
Boulder, MT 59632

Part || — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
St

No o

10.
1.
12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Records concerning the enroliment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;
Student academic and health records;
Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;
Individual Education Programs and other documentation conceming the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;
Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;
Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;
Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;
Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;
Loan documents;
Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;
Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,
personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;
Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;
Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

2. During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

3. Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

4. Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

5. Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board's and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1. A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;

2. An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board;
and,

3. An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.

4. Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:

a. The date the disciplinary action was instituted;

b. The duration of any suspension;

c. The reason for such suspension or expulsion;

d. The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL"), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL”); and,

e. Other student demographic |nformat|on

5. Any and all student-level enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:

a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;

b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;

c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,

d. Other student demographic information.

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18



Exhibit C — Performance Framework

Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school

dist

rict.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include;

1.

SOeNOoOOALN

Page 16 of 18

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;
attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year,;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards
Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

2. The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:

a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE");

b. are appropriately evaluated;

c. are provided with an IEP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their
parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to

resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

3. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

4. Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student'’s regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

5. Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

6. Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

7. Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part Il - Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of

IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

2. The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

3. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part lll —= Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



MOUNT ASCENSION LEARNING ACADEMY

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of Mount Ascension Learning Academy
(collectively, the “Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act”); and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (ii) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter
school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff; and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the Mount Ascension Learning Academy.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”);

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board;

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”);

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

2.4.1.1. Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



2.41.2. The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers,
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board’s assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enroliment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enrollment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enroliment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases, lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP Contracts that the Charter Governing Board seeks to execute, amend, or renew
during the time that this Charter Contract is in effect. Good cause shown includes, but is
in no way limited to, a finding that the ESP Contract(s) at issue does not, under the
totality of the circumstances, allow the Charter Governing Board effective and sufficient
means to hold the Educational Service Provider accountable including means to
terminate the Educational Service Provider without placing the school’s further existence
in peril.

4.5.2. To facilitate the Board of Public Education’s rights of review and disapproval, the
Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with any
proposed ESP Contract or proposed material amendment thereto no later than thirty (30)
days prior to the proposed date of execution. In addition to the foregoing, prior to a
school’s first year of operation, and where no prior Management Contract has been in
place for that school, the Charter Governing Board must submit the proposed
Management Contract to the Board of Public Education by no later than July 1
immediately preceding the start of the school year. When submitting an ESP Contract,
the Charter Governing Board must include a written opinion of the Charter Governing
Board's legal counsel stating that the ESP Contract has been reviewed by legal counsel
to the Charter Governing Board. Within thirty (30) days of receiving the proposed ESP
Contract, the Board of Public Education shall notify the Charter Governing Board if

Page 4 of 18



the agreement is disapproved, except that the Board of Public Education, at their
discretion, may extend the review period an additional thirty (30) days. It is expressly
understood that should the Board of Public Education not disapprove an ESP Contract,
the Board of Public Education by such action(s) are in no way endorsing or approving
the contract, the fee arrangements if any or any other provisions contained therein.

4.5.3. To the extent that the Terms of Operation contemplate that any of the Charter

Governing Board's schools would be operated with the assistance of an Educational
Service Provider pursuant to a Management Contract, the Charter Governing Board
shall obtain the prior written approval of the Board of Public Education prior to
operating the school without such Educational Service Provider’s assistance.
Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that circumstances may require the Charter
Governing Board to terminate and/or not renew a Management Contract and thereafter
operate a school without the services of the Educational Service Provider identified in the
Terms of Operation (or otherwise subsequently approved by the Board of Public
Education) prior to obtaining the permission of the Board of Public Education. Where
the Board of Public Education determines, at their sole discretion, that such
circumstances exist, and the Charter Governing Board has made good faith efforts to
timely inform the Board of Public Education of the circumstances, the Board of Public
Education may waive the Charter Governing Board’s breach of the prior permission
requirement and allow the Charter Governing Board to seek permission ex post facto.

4.5.4. Management Contracts shall set forth with particularity, inter alia, the extent of the

Educational Service Provider’s participation in the organization, operation and
governance of the Charter Governing Board and any school, and contain a provision
requiring the Educational Service Provider to provide the Board of Public Education
access to its annual financial statements and audit.

4.6. Educational Programs.
4.6.1. The Charter Governing Board shall implement and provide educational programs at

its school(s) that are designed to permit and do permit students to meet or exceed the
performance standards adopted by the Board of Public Education and the goals, and
measures of progress towards those goals, of the school(s) as set forth in the
Performance Framework. Subject to the immediately foregoing requirements, the
Charter Governing Board shall have the right to make any modifications to the
educational programs of its schools as it deems necessary including, but not limited to,
the curriculum, pedagogical approach, and staffing structure, and such modifications
shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education or be deemed a
revision to the Charter Contract, provided however, that any such modifications shall be
generally consistent with the Terms of Operation and applicable law, and the Charter
Governing Board reports such modifications as part of its annual report.

4.6.2. Subject to any restraints in the Act or this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing

Board may offer or share programs, settings, classes, and services between and among
schools including grade level programs, specialized programs such as programs for
students with disabilities or English language learners, and other programs so long as
each such program is described in the Terms of Operation, each student participating in
such program is included in the enrollment and Performance Framework of the student’s
sending school, unless the Board of Public Education, in their sole discretion,
otherwise permit.

4.7. Performance Frameworks. By October 31 of the school year in which any school first
commences instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall ensure that such school creates
a Performance Framework, which plan upon its completion shall be incorporated into the
Charter Contract as a Term of Operation. The Performance Framework shall replace and
substitute for the assessment measures and educational goals and objectives set forth in the
school’s charter application in the Terms of Operation, but shall not provide for less stringent

Page 5 of 18



4.8.

4.9.

assessment measures or educational goals and objectives than those set forth in the school’s
charter application. The Charter Governing Board understands that any school’s success in
meeting the goals and measures set forth in its Performance Framework shall be the
predominant criterion by which the success of the school’s education program will be
evaluated by the Board of Public Education upon the Charter Governing Board’s
application for renewal of the authority to operate such school.

Monitoring Plan and Oversight. The Charter Governing Board acknowledges that the Board
of Public Education, or their authorized agents, have the right to visit, examine into and
inspect the Charter Governing Board as well as any school or program the Charter
Governing Board may operate pursuant to a Charter Contract and any records related to
any of the foregoing. To permit the Board of Public Education to fulfill their oversight
function under the Act and ensure that the Charter Governing Board and each of its schools
is in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and the terms and conditions
of this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by the Monitoring
Plan, the requirements of which are set forth at Exhibit B.

Education of Students with Disabilities. The Charter Governing Board shall provide services
and accommodations to students with disabilities as set forth for each school in the Terms of
Operation and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1401 et seq.) (the
“IDEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (the “ADA”), section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794) (“Section 504”), all applicable
regulations promulgated pursuant to such federal laws, and the individualized education
program (“IEP”) of each student as determined by the IEP Team formed consistent with 34
CFR § 300.321. Each school shall provide such appropriate and required services either
directly, cooperatively with another school operated by the Charter Governing Board, or by
contract with another provider.

5. School Personnel

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

Status. The Charter Governing Board shall employ and/or contract with necessary
personnel. The Charter Governing Board shall provide written notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days of the hiring or departure (by resignation or
dismissal) of the administrator, principal, or head of any school, however designated. The
organizational structure of the Charter Governing Board and each school shall be consistent
with the structures set forth in the Terms of Operation.

Personnel Policies; Staff Responsibilities. The Charter Governing Board shall make
available in written form its hiring and personnel policies and procedures for the school,
including the qualifications required by the Charter Governing Board in the hiring of
teachers, school administrators, and other school employees as well as a description of staff
responsibilities. Such policies and procedures shall be consistent with those set forth in the
Terms of Operation, and should clearly indicate that the Board of Public Education shall
have access to all personnel files to the extent permissible by law.

Background Checks; Fingerprinting. The Charter Governing Board shall establish, maintain,
and implement procedures for conducting fingerprint-based background checks.

6. Financial Operations

6.1.

Management and Financial Controls.

6.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall at all times maintain appropriate governance and
managerial procedures and financial controls and maintain the same at each public
charter school, program or other activity operated by the Charter Governing Board.

6.1.2. The Charter Governing Board shall provide a statement to the Board of Public
Education, no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the date of execution
of the Charter Contract, concerning the status of management and financial controls

Page 6 of 18



6

6
6
6

6
6.2. The

(the "Initial Statement") of the school. The Initial Statement must address whether the

Charter Governing Board has documented adequate controls at that school relating to:

.1.2.1. (i) preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”);

1.2.2. (i) payroll procedures;

.1.2.3.  (iii) accounting for contributions and grants;

1.2.4.  (iv) procedures for the creation and review of quarterly financial statements,
which procedures shall specifically identify the individual who will be responsible for
preparing and reviewing such financial statements for the Charter Governing
Board and for each applicable public charter school; and,

1.2.5.  (v) appropriate internal financial controls and procedures.

Initial Statement shall be reviewed and ratified by the Charter Governing Board prior to

its submission to the Board of Public Education.

6.2.1

6.2.2

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are substantially similar (i.e., no material difference) with financial controls currently in
place and used by the Local school board, the Charter Governing Board shall
include a copy of its most recent completed audit when submitting the Initial Statement.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of any deficiencies noted in the audit.

If the financial controls proposed in the Charter Governing Board’s Initial Statement
are materially different from financial controls currently in place and used by the Local
school board, the Charter Governing Board shall retain, when possible, an
independent certified public accountant or independent certified public accounting firm
licensed in the State to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement. The purpose
of the engagement will be to assist the Charter Governing Board in evaluating the
Initial Statement and the procedures, policies, and practices established thereunder.
The Board of Public Education may require additional evidence to verify the
correction of all such deficiencies.

6.3. Financial Statements; Interim Reports. All financial statements that the Charter Governing

Boa

rd is required to prepare shall be in accordance with GAAP then in effect. During each

year of operation, the Charter Governing Board shall prepare and submit to the Board of

Pub

lic Education a quarterly unaudited statement of income and expenses for that

preceding quarter in such form and electronic format as prescribed and disseminated by the

Boa

rd of Public Education to include, but not be limited to, certain financial statements for

each public charter school operated by the Charter Governing Board.
6.4. Audits.

6.4.1

Page 7 of 18

. For so long as the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter does not
identify charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain either an independent certified public accountant
or certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Charter Governing Board’s annual financial statements related to public charter
schools. Should the Office of Public Instruction’s currently operative audit letter identify
charter school financial statements as a category that must be audited, however, the
Charter Governing Board shall retain an independent certified public accountant or
certified public accounting firm licensed in the State to perform annually an audit of the
Local school board’s annual financial statements. The independent audit of the Charter
Governing Board’s financial statements must be performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, as well as any additional requirements and
guidelines that may be provided by the Board of Public Education. The audited
financial statements must be submitted to the Board of Public Education within ten (10)
business days of receipt of any such complete and final audit report.



6.4.2. A Charter Governing Board that contracts with an Educational Service Provider must
submit to the Board of Public Education audited financial statements of the Educational
Service Providers by October 31 of each year.

6.5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Charter Governing Board shall begin on July 1 of each
calendar year of the term of the initial Charter Contract and shall end on June 30 of the
subsequent calendar year.

6.6. Annual Budgets and Cash Flow Projections.

6.6.1. Except in the first year of operation, a Charter Governing Board shall prepare and
provide to the Board of Public Education a copy of its annual budgets and cash flow
projections for each public charter school it has been authorized to operate each fiscal
year by no later than August 30 of the immediately preceding fiscal year.

6.6.2. All annual budgets and cash flow projections shall be in such form and electronic
format as prescribed and disseminated by the Board of Public Education.

6.7. Release of Funding. In the first year of the public charter school operations, if, after the
October enrollment count, a public charter school does not meet the eligibility requirements
for separate budget unit status and basic entitlement pursuant to 20-6-812, MCA, public
charter schools receiving a basic entitlement will be subject to the return of overpayment
provisions under 20-9-344, MCA.

7. Reporting Requirements
7.1. Annual Reports. No later than July 1 succeeding a school year in which any public charter
school provided instruction, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of
Public Education an Annual Report for each such public charter school setting forth the
academic program and performance of each public charter school for the preceding school
year. The Annual Report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Board of Public
Education and shall include at least the following components.

7.1.1. Adiscussion of each school’s progress made towards achievement of the goals set
forth in the Terms of Operation including its Performance Framework.

7.1.2. Areport on the progress of each public charter school in meeting the goals and
measures of the Performance Framework during the last school year (the “Performance
Framework Progress Report”). The Performance Framework Progress Report must
contain data addressing each goal and measure in the school’s Performance Framework
and should report data as may be required by the Board of Public Education in order
for the Board of Public Education to substantiate outcomes. The Performance
Framework Progress Report shall be prepared pursuant to any requirements set forth by
the Board of Public Education. Should the Performance Framework Progress Report
indicate that the school has not met one or more of the goals in its Performance
Framework, the Board of Public Education may require the Charter Governing Board
to submit a corrective plan for the school pursuant to this Charter Contract.

7.1.3. The statement of assurances relating to compliance with requirements under the
Charter Contract and applicable law, the form and requirements of which shall be
determined by the Board of Public Education.

7.1.4. A brief statement setting forth changes to the school’s educational program and
mission as well as governing and organizational structures, during the previous fiscal and
school year.

7.2. Financial Reports. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the financial reports required
by this Charter Contract pursuant to the terms and dates specified therein.

8. Renewal, Corrective Action, and Termination
8.1. School Renewal. No later than June 30 of each year, the Board of Public Education shall
issue a public charter school performance report and charter renewal application guide to the
Charter Governing Board of any public charter school whose charter will expire the following

Page 8 of 18



year. The performance report must summarize the public charter school’s performance
record and must provide notice of any weaknesses or concerns perceived by the Board of
Public Education that may jeopardize renewal if not rectified. The Charter Governing
Board shall respond to the performance report and submit any corrections or clarifications
within 90 days.

8.2. No later than February 1, the Charter Governing Board shall submit to the Board of Public
Education a renewal application to extend the authority to operate a school (the “School
Renewal Application”). The School Renewal Application shall conform to 20-6-809, MCA, and
the Board of Public Education’s guidelines and contain:

8.2.1. areport of the progress of the school in achieving the educational objectives set forth
in the Terms of Operation;

8.2.2. a detailed financial statement disclosing the cost of administration, instruction, and
other spending categories for the school that will allow a comparison of such costs to
other schools;

8.2.3. copies of each of the Annual Reports of the school including the school report cards
and certified financial statements;

8.2.4. evidence of parent and student satisfaction at the school; and

8.2.5. such other material and information as is required by the Board of Public Education.

8.3. Approval or Denial of School Renewal. The Board of Public Education shall either approve
or deny the School Renewal Application. In the event that the School Renewal Application is
not approved, the Charter Governing Board shall close the school at the end of the school
year that corresponds with the end of the period the Charter Governing Board may operate
the school pursuant to this Charter Contract, and the Charter Governing Board shall follow
the procedures for school closure as established by the Board of Public Education. In the
event that the School Renewal Application is granted in whole or part, the Board of Public
Education shall enter into a proposed renewal Charter Contract to allow the Charter
Governing Board to operate the school for an additional period of time in accordance with
the Board of Public Education’s renewal practices. Nothing herein shall obligate the Board
of Public Education to approve a School Renewal Application.

8.4. Corrective Plans. If the Board of Public Education determines that the Charter Governing
Board or any of its charter schools, programs or sites is not progressing toward one or more
of the performance or education goals set forth in the Charter Contract, that the quality of a
charter school’s, program’s or site’s educational program or the Charter Governing Board’s
governance practices are not satisfactory, or that the Charter Governing Board or any of its
charter schools or sites is not in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Charter
Contract including the Monitoring Plan, then the Board of Public Education, in consultation
with the Charter Governing Board, may develop and require the Charter Governing Board
to implement a corrective plan (“Corrective Plan”). Nothing contained herein shall require the
Board of Public Education to undertake the development of a Corrective Plan to terminate
the authority to operate a charter school, site or program, place the Charter Governing
Board on probationary status, or initiate mandatory remedial action in accordance with the
Act or the Charter Contract. The terms and conditions of a remedial plan may include, but
are not limited to, the termination of the authority of the Charter Governing Board to operate
a particular charter school, site, or program.

8.5. Grounds for Charter Termination or Revocation. The Charter Contract may be terminated
and revoked:

8.5.1. by the Board of Public Education in accordance with the Act; or,

8.5.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.6. Grounds for School Closure. The Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate any
charter school, site, or program may be terminated or revoked:

8.6.1. should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds set forth in
the Act apply to such charter school, site, or program; or

Page 9 of 18



8.6.2. by mutual agreement of the Parties hereto.

8.7. Notice and Procedures.

8.7.1. Should the Board of Public Education determine that one of the grounds for
termination or revocation of the Charter Contract as defined under the Act has occurred
or is occurring, the Board of Public Education may, at their discretion, elect as follows:

8.7.1.1. toterminate the Charter Contract; or
8.7.1.2.  terminate the Charter Governing Board’s authority to operate one or more
charter schools, programs, or sites, or any combination thereof; or,

8.7.2. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the Charter Contract, the
Board of Public Education shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing
Board at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the proposed termination.
Such notice shall include a statement of reasons for the proposed termination. Prior to
termination of the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board shall be provided an
opportunity to be heard and present evidence in opposition to termination.

8.7.3. Should the Board of Public Education elect to terminate the authority of the Charter
Governing Board to operate a charter school or site, the Board of Public Education
shall provide notice of such to the Charter Governing Board at least thirty (30) days
prior to the effective date of the proposed action.

8.8. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of the Charter Contract, whether
prematurely or otherwise, the Charter Governing Board agrees to follow any additional
procedures required by the Board of Public Education to ensure an orderly dissolution or
transition process, including the implementation of a school closure plan as provided by the
Board of Public Education.

9. Other Covenants and Warranties
9.1. Indemnification and Acknowledgements

9.1.1. Indemnification: The Charter Governing Board shall indemnify, defend, save and
hold harmless the Board of Public Education, the State of Montana, its departments,
agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, officials, agents and
employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities,
damages, losses or expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees, and costs of claim
processing, investigation and litigation) (“Claims”) for bodily injury or personal injury
(including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the
Charter Governing Board or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, employees or
subcontractors. This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered
under the Workers’ Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of the Charter
Governing Board to conform to any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance,
administrative rule, regulation, or court decree that is applicable to the Charter
Governing Board. It is the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all
instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the Charter Governing Board from and against
any and all claims. It is agreed that the Charter Governing Board will be responsible for
primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where this indemnification is
applicable. In consideration of the award of this Charter Contract, the Charter
Governing Board agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against the State of Montana,
its officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from the work performed by
the Charter Governing Board for the State of Montana.

9.1.2. Immunity. The parties acknowledge that, pursuant to law, the Board of Public
Education, its members, officers, and employees shall enjoy all immunities from liability
as provided under the law. Nothing in this Charter Contract shall be construed as a

Page 10 of 18



waiver of any rights, limits, protections, or defenses provided by any sovereign or
governmental immunity laws.

9.1.3. Debts and Financial Obligations: The parties acknowledge that neither the Board of
Public Education, the State of Montana, or its agencies, boards, commissions, or
divisions are liable for the debts or financial obligations of a public charter school or
persons or entities that operate public charter schools.

9.2. Charter Revision. This Charter Contract may be revised only by written consent of the
Parties hereto.

9.3. Assignment. This Charter Contract may not be assigned or delegated by the Charter
Governing Board under any circumstances, it being expressly understood that the rights and
obligations granted hereby runs solely and exclusively to the benefit of the Charter
Governing Board.

9.4. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or submission from one Party to any other Party or
Parties hereunder shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or served for all purposes if
it is delivered in writing via electronic mail as an attachment thereto with a legally valid and
binding electronic signature or an electronic image of a physical signature (.pdf or similar
format), and as of the date upon which the sender receives receipt of confirmation generated
by the recipient’s electronic mail system that the notice has been received by the recipient’s
electronic mail system, to the Parties at the following addresses:

If to the Charter Governing Board:

Rex Weltz, Superintendent
1325 Poplar St.
Helena, MT 59601

rweltz@helenaschools.org

If to the Board of Public Education:
McCall Flynn
PO Box 200801
Helena, MT 59620

bpe@mt.gov

9.5. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Charter Contract or the Terms of
Operation thereof to any person or in any circumstances shall be determined to be invalid,
unlawful, or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Charter Contract and the
application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is
determined to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
remaining provision of this Charter Contract shall continue to be valid and may be enforced
to the fullest extent permitted by law.

9.6. Entire Charter. The Charter Contract supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements
and understandings between the Board of Public Education and the Charter Governing
Board as it relates to the creation of a particular public charter school. To the extent that any
conflict or incompatibility exists between the Terms of Operation and the other terms of this
Charter Contract, such other terms of this Charter Contract shall control.

9.7. Construction. This Charter Contract shall be construed fairly as to both Parties and not in
favor of or against either Party, regardless of which Party prepared the Charter Contract.

Page 11 of 18


mailto:bpe@mt.gov

MOUNT ASCENSION LEARNING ACADEMY

o dslhan K Hattorc

Siobhan Hathhorn, Chair of the Charter Governing Board

MONTANA BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

By

Dr. Tim Tharp, Chair of the Montana Board of Public Education

Page 12 of 18



Exhibit A — Terms of Operation

Part | — Specific Terms

Additional Terms of Operation will be added at a later date, based on the timeline outlined for
submission above. The Board of Public Education will communicate this timeline and submission
expectations at a later date.

The Charter Governing Board shall provide educational services, including the delivery of
instruction, to students at the following location(s):

Lincoln Center — Base Location
1325 Poplar Street
Helena, MT 59601

C. R. Anderson Middle School
1200 Knight Street
Helena, MT 59601

Helena Middle School
1025 North Rodney
Helena, MT 59601

Capital High School
100 Valley Drive
Helena, MT 59601

Helena High School
1300 Billings Avenue
Helena, MT 59601

Part Il — Charter Application

The Board of Public Education will include the Charter Application submitted by the Charter
Governing Board for execution of the Charter Contract.

Page 13 of 18



Exhibit B — Monitoring Plan

Part | — Monitoring Plan

As provided in the Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board agrees to abide by a
Monitoring Plan, the general components of which are set forth below. The requirements of the
Monitoring Plan, are in addition to any notification, record-keeping, or reporting requirements set
forth in the Charter Contract or applicable law including any obligation to receive the written approval
of the Board of Public Education, and/or to seek approval for revision of the Charter Contract
pursuant to applicable law.

A. The Charter Governing Board shall maintain the following records in its offices for inspection
by the Board of Public Education and/or its designee:

1.

2.
3.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Records concerning the enrollment and admissions process including all applications
received and documents concerning the lottery process if conducted;

Student academic and health records;

Attendance records for students including withdrawals of students from each school and
the reason(s) for such withdrawals;

Individual Education Programs and other documentation concerning the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) as well as documentation concerning section 504 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for children with disabilities enrolled in each school;

Staff rosters including records of hiring, resignation, and termination of employees;
Evidence of credentials and/or qualifications for all teachers;

Evidence that required fingerprint-based background checks have been conducted for all
applicable school employees;

Certificates of occupancy or other facility-related certification or permits;

Lease agreements and/or mortgages or deeds;

. Loan documents;
. Contracts in excess of $1,000 including management contracts;
. Charter Governing Board or school policies in areas such as financial management,

personnel, student discipline (including suspension and expulsion), complaints, health and
safety, student privacy and transportation, Public Right to Know Laws and Open Meetings
Laws and other areas required by the Charter Contract or law;
Grievances made by students, parents, teachers, and other employees to the Charter
Governing Board together with documentation of all actions taken in response;
Inventory of all assets of the Charter Governing Board that have been purchased with
public funds including grant funds;
Documents sufficient to substantiate each school’s progress on the measurable goals set
forth in its Performance Framework; and,
Student level discipline records including, but not limited to, information regarding in-school
and out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions for all students (including students with
disabilities) available by grade and year reflecting:

a. number of suspension/expulsion incidents; and,

b. number of different students involved in suspension/expulsion incidents.

B. To corroborate information submitted by the Charter Governing Board to the Board of
Public Education, and in order to ensure compliance with the Act and the Charter Contract,
the Board of Public Education or its designee will:

1.

Make at least one visit to each school in its first year of operation. Such visits may include
an inspection of the physical plant, all categories of records set forth in subsection A of the
Monitoring Plan, interviews with the administrator of the school and other personnel, and

Page 14 of 18



observation of instructional methods. Visits in later years may decrease in frequency and
be conducted by Board of Public Education designees;

During the first term of authority to operate a school, make at least one other visit to a
school, which may be announced or unannounced. In subsequent terms, the Board of
Public Education may conduct visits on a sampling basis for schools that demonstrate
high levels of academic and fiscal soundness, compliance with applicable laws, rules, and
regulations, and whose academic performance makes it likely they will improve student
learning and achievement;

Require the Charter Governing Board to make available necessary information in
response to the Board of Public Education’s inquiries including information necessary to
prepare annual or semi-annual evaluations of each school’s financial operations, academic
program, future outlook, and other areas;

Conduct internal investigations as appropriate on its own initiative or in response to
concerns raised by students, parents, employees, local school districts and other
individuals or groups. Where appropriate, the Board of Public Education shall issue
remedial orders as permitted by the Charter Contract or applicable law; and

Review as necessary the Charter Governing Board’s and its schools’ operations to
determine whether any changes in such operations require formal revision of the Charter
Contract and, if so, determine whether such revision should be recommended for
approval.

C. The Charter Governing Board shall track, and maintain information regarding, the following
information:

1.

2.

A copy of all minutes from each of its meetings, committee meetings and executive
sessions of the meeting or session pertaining to the school;
An updated list of trustees and officers of any such person’s election; removal; resignation;
expiration of term without re-election; or, otherwise leaving the Charter Governing Board,;
and,
An updated list of each administrator, principal, or head of school for each site of each
school, however designated.
Any and all student-level suspensions (including in-school and out-of-school suspensions
of less than one-day) and expulsions including, but not limited to:
a. The date the disciplinary action was instituted;
b. The duration of any suspension;
c. The reason for such suspension or expulsion;
d. The student’s status as an English Language Learner (“ELL”), a student with a
disability under the IDEA or a student who qualifies for the federal Free or Reduced
Price Lunch program(“FRPL”); and,
e. Other student demographic information.
Any and all student-level enroliment and retention information including, but not limited to:
a. The date of any student withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
b. The reason for each withdrawal, transfer or discharge;
c. The student’s status as an ELL, student with a disability under the IDEA or a FRPL
student; and,
d. Other student demographic information.

D. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public Education with such
information on a quarterly basis in accordance with guidance maintained and disseminated by
the Board of Public Education. Such guidance, as it may be amended from time to time,
shall be binding on the Charter Governing Board.

Page 15 of 18



Exhibit C — Performance Framework
Part | — Academic Performance Framework and Evaluation

A. The Charter Governing Board shall adhere to the provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code
Annotated and Title 10 of the Administrative Rules of Montana and any state or local rule,
regulation, policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school
district.

B. The Charter Governing Board shall identify a performance framework as prescribed in 20-6-
809, MCA, that clearly sets forth the academic and operational performance indicators,
measures, and metrics which include:

school achievement goals;

student academic proficiency;

student academic growth;

achievement gaps in both proficiency and growth between major student subgroups;

attendance;

dropout rate;

recurrent enrollment from year to year;

postsecondary readiness;

financial performance and sustainability;

0. Charter Governing Board performance and stewardship, including compliance with all

applicable laws, regulations, and terms of the Charter Contract.

SOCOoNoOORWN =

Page 16 of 18



Exhibit D — Assurances and Variances to Standards
Part | — Assurances Regarding Students with Disabilities

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of
education and other services to students with disabilities to be enrolled at each proposed
charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board will adhere to all provisions of federal law relating to
students with disabilities including the IDEA, Section 504, and Title Il of the ADA which are
applicable to it.

2. The Charter Governing Board will, consistent with applicable law, be a Local Education
Agency (LEA) that will ensure that all students with disabilities that qualify under the IDEA:
a. have available a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”);

b. are appropriately evaluated;

c. are provided with an IEP;

d. receive an appropriate education in the least restrictive environment (LRE);

e. are involved in the development of and decisions regarding the IEP, along with their
parents; and,

f. have access to appropriate procedures and mechanisms, along with their parents, to
resolve any disputes or disagreements related to a school’s or school district’s
provision of FAPE.

3. Unless otherwise approved by the Board of Public Education, the Charter Governing
Board shall assign a qualified employee whose responsibility it is to ensure
implementation of the public charter school’s responsibilities under IDEA and Section 504.

4. Each school will make available, as required by IDEA regulations, a student’s regular and
special education teachers (and other required school personnel) for meetings convened
by such student’s IEP Team.

5. Each school will abide by the applicable provisions and regulations of the IDEA and the
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) as they relate to students with
disabilities including, but not limited to, having procedures for maintaining student files in a
secure and locked location with limited access.

6. Each school will comply with the Office of Public Instruction data and reporting
requirements in compliance with federal law and regulations.

7. Each school will comply with its obligations under the Child Find requirements of IDEA
including 34 C.F.R. § 300.111, and will provide appropriate notification to parents in
connection therewith as applicable, including notifying them prior to potential evaluation.

Part Il — Assurances Regarding Indian Education for All (IEFA)

A. The Charter Governing Board provides the following assurances regarding the provision of

IEFA at each proposed charter school.

1. The Charter Governing Board recognizes that it is the constitutionally declared policy of
the State to recognize the distinct and unique cultural heritage of American Indians and to
be committed in its educational goals to the preservation of the cultural heritage of
American Indians.

2. The Charter Governing Board shall ensure that all students utilizing educational
programs provided by a charter school, whether Indian or non-Indian, learn about the
distinct and unique heritage of American Indians in a culturally responsive manner.

3. The Charter Governing Board shall work cooperatively with Montana tribes or those
tribes that are in close proximity, when providing instruction or when implementing an
educational goal or adopting a rule related to the education of each Montana citizen, to
include information specific to the cultural heritage and contemporary contributions of

Page 17 of 18



American Indians, with particular emphasis on Montana Indian tribal groups and
governments.

4. Predicated on the belief that all school personnel should have an understanding and
awareness of Indian tribes to help them relate effectively with Indian students and parents,
the Charter Governing Board shall provide means by which school personnel will gain an
understanding of and appreciation for the American Indian people.

Part Ill — Variances to Standards

A. Variances to Existing Standards: The Board of Public Education does not authorize any
variances to standards as part of this Charter Contract to meet the intended outcomes of the
proposed academic program of the school.

B. Additional variance to standards requests may be approved in accordance with ARM
10.55.604 or amendment to this Exhibit. An application for variance to standards is due in
writing to the Superintendent of Public Instruction no later than the second Monday in October
for the current academic year.

Page 18 of 18



RISE CHARTER AND DISTANCE LEARNING ACADEMY

CHARTER CONTRACT




INITIAL PUBLIC CHARTER CONTRACT

This agreement, executed on this 28 day of February 2024 by and between the Montana Board of
Public Education and the Charter Governing Board of RISE Charter and Distance Learning
Academy (collectively, the “Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the State of Montana (the “State”) enacted the Public Charter Schools Act (the “Act’):; and

WHEREAS pursuant to 20-6-804, MCA, the Board of Public Education has the authority to (i)
approve applications to establish public charter schools in the State, (i) thereafter to enter into a
Charter Contract with applicants setting forth the terms and conditions under which a public charter

school shall operate, and (iii) may thereafter renew a Charter Contract for a period of up to five
years; and

WHEREAS an application was submitted to the Board of Public Education for establishment of a
new public charter school pursuant to the Act, which the Board of Public Education approved:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties, and
agreements contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Definition of Terms

1.1. Board of Public Education: the board created by Article X, section 9(3), of the Montana
constitution and 2-15-1507, MCA.

1.2. Charter Contract: a fixed-term, renewable contract between a Charter Governing Board of
a public charter school and the Board of Public Education that outlines the roles, powers,
responsibilities, and performance expectations for each party to the contract.

1.3. Charter Governing Board: the elected board of trustees of a public charter school district
exercising supervision and control over a public charter school or the Local school board
that is a party to the Charter Contract with the Board of Public Education and that
exercises supervision and control over a public charter school pursuant to a Charter
Contract. Each Charter Governing Board is entitled to operate one school in one or more
sites for each Charter Contract issued to it.

1.4. Local school board: a preexisting board of trustees exercising supervision and control of the
schools and programs of a local school district pursuant to Article X, section 8, of the Montana
constitution and the laws of the state of Montana.

1.5. Located school district: the school district in which a proposed, preoperational, or
operational public charter school is located and from which the separate boundaries of the
public charter school district are proposed to be formed. When a public charter school district
is formed, the boundaries of the public charter school district are removed from the territory of
the located school district.

1.6. Noncharter public school: any public school that is under the supervision and control of a
Local school board or the state and is not operating pursuant to a Charter Contract.

1.7. School: a vehicle for the delivery of a complete educational program to students that has:
independent leadership; dedicated staff: and defined facilities. A Charter Governing Board
may have the authority to operate more than one school so long as a Charter Contract has
been issued for each such school. A school may be housed in more than one physical site.
The Charter Governing Board of a public charter school shall function as a Local
Educational Agency (LEA). A public charter school is responsible for meeting the
requirements of a LEA under applicable federal, state, and local laws, including those relating
to special education. The Charter Governing Board is responsible for special education at

Page 1 of 18



the school, including identification and service provisions, and is responsible for meeting the
needs of enrolled students with disabilities.

1.8. Site: one of a number of facility locations for a single public charter school typically
representing a grade range (for example, K-6 site, 7-8 site, or 9-12 site). A site would not be
its own LEA, ESSA, or state Accountability Designation unit. More than one public charter
school building tightly clustered (i.e., a campus) would operate as a “single site.”

2. Establishment of the RISE Charter and Distance Learning Academy.

2.1. Charter Agreement. This agreement (the Charter Contract), which specifically incorporates
the following:

2.1.1. certain terms of operation set forth collectively and attached hereto in Exhibit A, and
shall incorporate the initial charter applications or proposals of any additional schools that
may hereafter be approved by the Board of Public Education, and which shall be
hereafter referred to collectively as the Terms of Operation (the “Terms of Operation”):

2.1.2. the Monitoring Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Monitoring Plan”), which shall
incorporate applicable monitoring procedures which must be completed by the Charter
Governing Board:

2.1.3. the Performance Framework developed by each school to be operated by the Charter
Governing Board or to be developed during the first year of operation by any additional
school the Charter Governing Board may be permitted to operate, and further
described herein and set forth in Exhibit C, (the “Performance Framework”):

2.1.4. the Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards, if any, set forth in Exhibit D (the
“Additional Assurances and Variances to Standards”);

2.2. Purpose. This Charter Contract is entered into for the purpose of authorizing the
establishment of a public charter school that meets identified educational needs and
promotes a diversity of educational choices. The Charter Governing Board shall operate a
public charter school consistent with the terms of the Charter Contract and all applicable
laws and administrative rules to create an innovative and high-performing public charter
school under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education and under the
supervision and control of the Charter Governing Board who are elected by the qualified
electors in the community where the public charter school is located.

2.3. Applicable Law and Venue. Montana law governs this Charter Contract. Except as provided
in 20-6-811, MCA, and this Charter Contract, the Charter Governing Board is subject to the
provisions in Title 20 of the Montana Code Annotated and any state local rule, regulation,
policy, or procedure relating to noncharter public schools within the located school district.
The parties agree that any litigation concerning the Charter Contract must be brought in the
First Judicial District in and for the County of Lewis and Clark, State of Montana, and each
party shall pay its own costs and attorney fees.

2.4. Authority to Operate; Effective Date; Term. The Board of Public Education, as the sole
entity authorized to enter into charter contracts, having approved the Charter Governing
Board to operate a public charter school on January 19, 2024, authorizes the Charter
Governing Board to open and commence operation of a school on July 1, 2024. This
Charter Contract is effective upon the signing of both parties for a term of five (5) years
commencing on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2029. The Charter Contract may be
renewed pursuant to 20-6-809, MCA, or extended pursuant to the terms herein.

2.4.1. Planning Years, Effect. The Charter Governing Board shall continue or commence
instruction, as the case may be, in conformity with the schedule set forth in the Terms of
Operation for each school it is permitted to operate.

24.1.1.  Subject to the foregoing limitation, planning years applicable to any school or
schools set forth in the Terms of Operation shall not require further approval of the
Board of Public Education or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract.

Page 2 of 18



2.4.1.2.  The Charter Governing Board may take one (1) additional planning year
pursuant to 20-6-806, MCA. In this case, the Board of Public Education will
authorize a delayed effective date commencing on July 1, 2025, and ending on June
30, 2030, for a term of five (5) years.

2.4.1.3. Inthe event the Charter Governing Board is unable to open a school or
schools by such date(s) the Charter Contract issued that permitted the Charter
Governing Board to operate such school(s) shall be deemed to be void ab initio.

3. Governance

3.1. Status. The school shall be governed by the Charter Governing Board, as updated by
subsequent election and approval, resignation, removal, or other disposition in accordance
applicable law. The Charter Governing Board shall have final authority for policy and
operational decisions of the school although nothing herein shall prevent the Charter
Governing Board from delegating decision-making authority to officers, employees, and
agents of the Charter Governing Board. In addition:

3.1.1. The Charter Governing Board shall establish and appoint members of an advisory
board to provide recommendations and insight regarding the public charter school's
operations. Members of the advisory board must include members with knowledge or
experience in the mission or focus of the public charter school.

3.1.2. The Charter Governing Board and its officers, directors, members, and partners,
have a duty of care for complying with the provisions of this Charter Contract, all
applicable laws, administrative rules, regulations, and reporting requirements.

3.2. Code of Ethics and Conflicts of Interest. The Charter Governing Board, its trustees, officers.
and employees shall abide by the code of ethics and/or conflicts of interest policy set forth in
existing Local school board approved policies, which must conform to applicable law, and
include standards with respect to disclosure of conflicts of interest regarding any matter
brought before the Charter Governing Board.

3.3. Bylaws. The Charter Governing Board shall provide notice to the Board of Public
Education within five (5) business days regarding any proposed amendment to its bylaws,
policies, or operating procedures that may impact the operation of a public charter school
within its geographic boundaries.

4. School Operations

4.1. Age; Grade Range; Number of Students. Each school operated by the Charter Governing
Board shall provide instruction to pupils in such ages, grades, and numbers in each year of
operation as set forth in the Terms of Operation. The Charter Governing Board shall
annually determine the capacity of the school in consideration of the Charter Governing
Board's assessment of its ability to facilitate the academic success of students, to achieve the
objectives specified in the Charter Contract, and to ensure that student enroliment does not
exceed the capacity of its designated site.

4.2. Admissions; Enrollment; Attendance; Transfer. The Charter Governing Board shall have in
place and implement comprehensive policies for admissions, enroliment, and attendance,
which policies shall be approved by the Charter Governing Board and shall be consistent
with applicable law and regulations. Such policies shall provide in detail the procedures and
practices utilized by each school in regard to admission, enroliment, attendance and
withdrawal including, inter alia, the period in which applications for admission shall be timely,
how to obtain an application for admission, the practices in operating the random selection
process, the maintenance of a wait list, the implementation of enroliment preferences, and the
taking of student attendance. With the exception of any changes in the at-risk school design
factors, the Charter Governing Board shall have the authority to make changes to such
policies and such changes shall not require the permission of the Board of Public Education

Page 3 of 18



or constitute a revision to the Charter Contract. Such changes, however, must be consistent
with applicable law and regulations.

4.3. Marketing. The Charter Governing Board shall utilize reasonable outreach and marketing
measures to make potential applicants aware of opportunities for enrollment at each of its
schools.

4.4. Insurance. The Charter Governing Board shall, at its own expense, purchase and maintain
the insurance coverage for liability and property loss for each school or site as is described
in the Terms of Operation together with any other additional insurance that the Charter
Governing Board deems necessary. Such insurance policies shall continue in effect. In the
case of additional schools, the applicable insurance must be in effect prior to employees or
students being present. The Charter Governing Board shall provide the Board of Public
Education with certificates of insurance or other satisfactory proof evidencing coverage
including, but not limited to, renewal policies, or additions, riders or amendments thereto
covering additional schools. All such insurance policies shall contain a provision requiring
notice to the Board of Public Education, at least thirty (30) days in advance, of any material
change, nonrenewal or termination. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the
Charter Governing Board shall take all steps necessary to comply with any additional
regulations made applicable to public schools.

4.5. Contracting with Educational Service Providers. Any entity that provides all or a substantial
subset of all services necessary to operate and oversee any school’s educational program on
a fee basis and pursuant to a fee-based contract shall be known as an educational service
provider (“Educational Service Provider”) and the contract under which such services are
provided shall be referred to as a management contract (“Management Contract”). Any other
contractual arrangements including, but not limited to, leases, subleases. lease-purchase
agreements, credit facilities, loan agreements, promissory notes, negotiable instruments, and
other debt instruments, that are contemplated between the Charter Governing Board on the
one hand and the Educational Service Provider, its partners, parents, subsidiaries, agents,
and affiliates (including any entity that holds an economic interest in the Educational Service
Provider) on the other, shall be known collectively, together with the Management Contract, as
ESP Contracts (“ESP Contracts”). The following requirements and provisions relating to
Educational Service Providers, Management Contracts and ESP Contracts shall apply.

4.5.1. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter Contract, the Board of Public
Education reserves the right to review and disapprove for good cause shown any and all
ESP C